69514-2

69514-2

No. 69514-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION 1 OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RUDOLPH KNIGHT Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES, Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT



Law Offices of David Harpold Attorneys for Appellant

> Lee S. Thomas WSBA No. 40489 Courtnei Milonas WSBA No. 41873

8407 S. 259th St., Ste. 101 Kent, WA 98030 (253) 852-5615

I. Introduction

Rudolph "Rudy" Knight seeks workers' compensation benefits under the Industrial Insurance Act (Act) with regard to a traumatic brain injury, which has left him permanently disabled.

.

At the time of injury, Mr. Knight worked for State Farm Insurance (State Farm) as a top level catastrophic claims adjuster. Mr. Knight's permanent residence is Washington State, but at the time of injury he was stationed in Galveston, Texas assessing home owners' claims in the aftermath of Hurricane Ike. On December 2, 2008, Mr. Knight was surveying beach damage in and around the Galveston Island area when, at about 1:00pm, he saw men on dune buggies spraying surf on the beach. He got out of his work van/mobile office to watch the riders. This is Mr. Knight's last memory of December 2, 2008. That same day, at about 5:30pm, paramedics found Mr. Knight not far from his van, lying on his back in the sand and water, calling for help, disoriented, and shivering uncontrollably.

It was later determined that sometime between 1:00pm and 5:30pm, Mr. Knight, by blunt force trauma, suffered a brain injury. Admittedly, no one knows when or how Mr. Knight was injured. No other witnesses have come forward, and amnesia is a common side effect to brain injuries. Although the extent and severity of Mr. Knight's injury is not in question, the issue remains whether Mr. Knight was in the course of his employment at the time of injury and which party, Mr. Knight or the Department of Labor and Industries (Department), must show evidence that Mr. Knight was, or was not, in the course of employment at the time of injury.

At the trial court, in response to the Department's summary judgment motion, Mr. Knight argued, as a traveling worker, he is considered continually in the course of employment and covered by the Act. In order to refute coverage, the Department must show that he distinctly departed on a personal errand and therefore abandoned his employment at the time of injury. Mr. Knight asserts that the Department cannot show that he distinctly departed his employment at the time of injury because the record is blank as to when and how the injury occurred. Mr. Knight alternatively argued that genuine issues of material fact exist as to this issue, precluding summary judgment.

Conversely, the Department argued Mr. Knight has the burden to show he did not abandon his employment at the time of injury, and Mr. Knight could not meet this burden under two theories. First, it argued Mr. Knight abandoned his employment by pausing to watch dune buggies and Mr. Knight could not show that he reengaged in employment at the time of injury. Second, two witnesses stated that Mr. Knight smelled of alcohol and Mr. Knight responded to a paramedic that he drank "a lot." Based on this evidence, the Department argued Mr. Knight abandoned his employment by drinking alcohol and must have been injured by falling onto the sand in a drunken state.

Mr. Knight argues that neither of the Department's theories demonstrates that he abandoned the course of his employment at the time of injury. First, resting on the beach fits within in the personal comfort doctrine and it is therefore contrary to law to find he abandoned his employment by pausing to watch dune buggies.

Second, dismissal on summary judgment was in error even if Mr. Knight must show that he did not abandon the course of his employment at the time of injury. Employee abandonment by way of intoxication is a question for the jury to determine. Additionally, material facts exist that suggest Mr. Knight was the victim of a crime. For example, Mr. Knight is a 61 year old insurance adjuster with no disciplinary history in his 23 years of employment; no alcohol bottles were found near him; he was found with significant bruising on his arms, chest, and face on a hurricane stricken beach inhabited by transient workers; and his wallet, necklace, and money clip were missing. The trial court granted the Department's motion for summary judgment. It agreed with the Department that: 1) Mr. Knight abandoned his employment by watching dune buggies; 2) Mr. Knight did not have sufficient evidence to show that he reentered employment at the time of injury; and 3) Mr. Knight did not have sufficient evidence to show he had not been drinking at the time of injury. Mr. Knight Appeals.

II. Assignments of Error

A. Assignments of Error

•

1. The trial court erred in dismissing Mr. Knight's appeal seeking workers' compensations benefits. Order Granting Dismissal, Clerk's Paper (CP) at 96-97, Order Denying Reconsideration, CP at 110-111.

 The trial court erred in misapplying the traveling workers' doctrine. Order Granting Dismissal, CP at 96-97, Order Denying Reconsideration, CP at 110-111.

3. The trial court erred in finding that there were no material facts in dispute. Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law 3, CP at 97.

4. The trial court erred in finding that the material facts arguably in dispute were not supported by sufficient evidence to go to a jury. Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law 3, CP at 97.

4

5. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Knight abandoned the course of employment at the time of his injury, by virtue of alcohol intoxication. Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law 4, CP at 97.

6. The trial court erred in finding that a jury could not reasonably find that any intoxication as well as Mr. Knight's injuries are fairly attributable to the increased risks of his employment travel. Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law 4, CP at 97.

7. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Knight was not injured in the course of his employment because he stopped to watch dune buggy riders. Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law 5, CP at 97.

8. The trial court erred in finding that stopping to watch dune buggy riders was a personal amusement venture resulting in a distinct departure from employment. Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law 5, CP at 97.

 The trial court erred in finding that any departure from employment had not concluded when Mr. Knight sustained his injury.
 Finding of Fact and Conclusion of Law 5, CP at 97.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Whether the trial court erred when it misapplied the traveling workers' doctrine by failing to hold that Mr. Knight is a traveling worker continuously in the course of employment and eligible for benefits

under the Act, unless the Department shows he distinctly departed the course of his employment at the time of injury? (Assignments of error 1 and 2.)

2. Whether the trial court erred by holding that Mr. Knight distinctly departed his employment when he stopped to watch dune buggy riders; this stop fits within the personal comfort doctrine because it was not unreasonable or unusual and it took place while Mr. Knight was surveying the beach? (Assignments of error 1, 7, 8, and 9.)

3. Whether the trial court erred by holding that no material facts are in dispute and that all reasonable fact finders must find that Mr. Knight abandoned his employment at the time of injury when witnesses do not know when or how Mr. Knight was injured, abandonment by intoxication is a jury question, and evidence suggests that Mr. Knight was a crime victim? (Assignments of error 1, 3, 4, 5, and 6.)

III. Statement of the Case

A. In September 2008, State Farm sent Mr. Knight, a Top Level Catastrophic Claims Adjuster, to Galveston, Texas to Assess Damage Claims in the Aftermath of Hurricane Ike

For over 23 years, Mr. Knight worked for State Farm Insurance (State Farm) which is based out of Bloomington, Illinois. Hearing Transcript from June 20, 2011 (6/20/11 HT) at 31, ll. 7, 23-26.ⁱ By the early 2000's, he had become a top level claims adjuster who could be

ⁱ All hearing transcripts are contained in the Certified Appeal Board Record (CABR).

trusted to work the most difficult assignments. 6/20/11 HT at 86, ll. 4-26; & at 87, ll. 1. As such, he became a catastrophic claims adjuster. 6/20/11 HT at 31, ll. 21-26; & at 32, ll. 1-22.

.

Mr. Knight kept his permanent residence in Seattle. 6/20/11 HT at 34, ll. 2-26; & at 35, ll.71-13. However, State Farm sent Mr. Knight all over the country after catastrophic events to adjust damage claims. 6/20/11 HT at 33, ll. 3-26; & at 34, ll. 1. Depending on the severity of the catastrophe, Mr. Knight could be away from home for months working six days a week, twelve hours a day or more. 6/20/11 HT at 40, ll. 9-21; & at 87, ll. 2-13. One of these catastrophes, Hurricane Ike, struck Galveston, Texas, in September 2008. 6/20/11 HT at 35, ll. 14-26; & at 36, ll. 1-22. Hurricane Ike devastated Galveston, and State Farm sent Mr. Knight there to adjust damage claims. *Id*.

Because so much of the city and surrounding area had been damaged, State Farm put Mr. Knight in a hotel about 30 minutes north of Galveston. 6/20/11 HT at 36, ll. 23-26; at 37, ll. 1-2; *See* Exhibit 1 to 6/20/11 Hearing; & at 38, ll. 17-24. State Farm provided Mr. Knight a per diem in addition to his annual salary on all days he was at the catastrophe site. 6/20/11 HT at 42, ll. 5-15.

State Farm allowed its workers to earn extra days off to rest at the catastrophe site or to travel because its adjusters worked long hours and

had extended stays away from home. 6/20/11 HT at 90, ll. 24-26; & at 91, ll. 1-19. State Farm referred to this time off as "provisional days." *Id.* However, an employee's per diem was paid whenever the employee was staying at the catastrophe site, even if it was a provisional day. 6/20/11 HT at 42, ll. 5-15. State Farm specifically acknowledged that provisional days benefited the company because time off kept its workers fresh and rejuvenated for the long weeks and months of work away from home. 6/20/11 HT at 90, ll. 24-26; & at 91, ll. 1-19. However, many employees, like Mr. Knight, used their days off to catch up on work, due to the sheer volume of claims at catastrophe sites. 6/20/11 HT at 40, ll. 17-21.

.

.

While in Texas working at the catastrophe site, Mr. Knight would primarily work out of his State Farm van. 6/20/11 HT at 45, ll. 19-26 & at 46, ll. 1-25. The van had a desk, all his files and paperwork, and a laptop computer with remote internet access. *Id.* The van was also Mr. Knight's means of transportation. *Id.*

B. On December 2, 2008, Mr. Knight Surveyed Damage in and around Galveston Island

During the Thanksgiving weekend of 2008, Mr. Knight traveled from Galveston to spend the holiday with family. 6/20/11 HT at 44, ll. 11-26 & at 45, ll. 1-4. Mr. Knight returned to the catastrophe site on Monday, December 1, 2008. *Id.* Mr. Knight had a provisional day on December 2, 2008, and was set to audit claims beginning December 3, 2008. *Id.* On December 2, 2008, Mr. Knight decided to drive from his hotel down to Galveston Island to survey damage. 6/20/11 HT at 46, ll. 26; at 47, ll. 1-7; at 49, ll. 2-26; & at 50, ll. 1-16.

0

.

As Mr. Knight's supervisor testified, surveying the damage to an area as a whole is part of an adjuster's job and is helpful with adjusting specific damage claims at a particular home. 6/20/11 HT at 89, ll. 11-26; & at 90 ll. 1. Or as Mr. Knight explained, "I'd be a lot less likely to deny something once you've been on Galveston Island and you've seen the devastation . . . handling the claims becomes more personal . . . you can't go out there and not feel compassion for the people you're handling." 6/20/11 HT at 50, ll. 10-16. In addition, Mr. Knight testified this trip to Galveston was a way for him to adjust back to his intense work routine and to mentally prepare himself for surveying individuals' homes the next day. 6/20/11 HT at 77, ll. 17-26; & at 78, ll. 1-26.

C. Mr. Knight Drove along Seawall Boulevard in Order to get a Different Perspective of the Bay, Along this Route, at about 1:00pm, he Noticed Dune Buggies and Paused to Watch

After Mr. Knight spent time surveying the damage on Galveston Beach, he decided to take Seawall Boulevard, "to give [him] a different perspective" of the damage as he made his way back to his hotel. 6/20/11 HT at 50, ll. 17-26; & at 51, ll. 1-6. Although he does not remember doing so, Mr. Knight had a conversation with his wife, Linda Ecklund. She testified that she and Mr. Knight spoke at about 1:00pm when he had stopped his company van because he noticed some people on the beach driving dune buggies in the sand. 6/20/11 HT at 13, ll. 16-26; at 14, ll. 12-26; at 15, ll. 1-13; & at 51, ll. 7-19. While on the phone with Mr. Knight, Ms. Ecklund heard a group of men approach Mr. Knight and say that they liked his hat. 6/20/11 HT at 14, ll. 12-26; & at 15, ll. 1-13. Ms. Ecklund then had to end the phone call to go to work. *Id.* Mr. Knight has no memory of the events that took place after he stepped out of his van. 6/20/11 HT at 52, ll. 1-9.

D. At about 5:30pm, Mr. Knight Was Found on the Beach, Treated by Paramedics, and Transported to the Nearest Available Emergency Room

At approximately 5:30pm, an unidentified caller placed a 9-1-1 call to report an unconscious man on the beach. Hearing Transcript from June 22, 2011 (6/22/11 HT) at 7, ll. 19-26; at 8, ll. 1-5; & at 10, ll. 10-26. Paramedics arrived to find Mr. Knight about 200 yards from several homeless workers that inhabited the beach, but otherwise alone. 6/22/11 HT at 40, ll. 18-26; at 41, ll. 1-4. Mr. Knight was lying on his back in the surf mumbling "help me, help me," but otherwise unresponsive. 6/22/11 HT at 8, ll. 6-10. Water was washing over him. 6/22/11 HT at 12, ll. 1-10. While performing a head to toe exam of Mr. Knight, the paramedics noted that he was "pretty beat up." 6/22/11 HT at 32, 11. 4-12. He had bruising on both arms and bruising all over his chest. 6/22/11 HT at 17, 11. 1-7, 19-20. He also had several lacerations on his face. 6/22/11 HT at 32, 11. 9-12. The following day bruising appeared across the right side of his face as well. 6/22/11 HT at 82, 11. 14-17.

Mr. Knight's color was poor and his face was "very, very blue, very cold to the touch." 6/22/11 HT at 8, ll. 17-20. His nose, ears, and lips, were blue and clear mucus was coming from his mouth. 6/22/11 HT at 15, ll. 13-14. He was shivering uncontrollably. 6/22/11 HT at 13, ll. 14-16. He had slow blood flow and was taking only short shallow breaths. 6/22/11 HT at 17, ll. 9-18 & at 21, ll. 2-10.

Based on the symptoms they observed, the paramedics diagnosed Mr. Knight as suffering from hypothermia. 6/22/11 HT at 7, ll. 15-16; & at 24, ll. 19-22. In addition, the paramedic believed Mr. Knight had been drinking. 6/22/11 HT at 24, ll. 20-22. The paramedic did not remember smelling any alcohol; however a police officer responding to the scene stated that he smelled alcohol on Mr. Knight. 6/22/11 HT at 42, ll. 24-26; & at Hearing Transcript from June 28, 2011 (6/28/11 HT) at 12, ll. 4-8. Also, while on route to the hospital Mr. Knight responded that he had a lot to drink. 6/22/11 HT at 23, ll. 11-18. At this time Mr. Knight was

oriented to person, time, and place, but was still verbally confused. 6/22/11 HT at 20, ll. 20-26; & at 33, ll. 17-23. The paramedics were unaware that Mr. Knight was suffering from a traumatic brain injury at this time. 6/22/11 HT at 31, ll. 9-12.

r,

 \mathbf{x}

The paramedics treated Mr. Knight for only hypothermia and intoxication; hypothermia and intoxication have nearly identical symptoms (disorientation, slurred speech, memory difficulties, and altered mental status) and require the same treatment. 6/22/11 HT at 29, ll. 18-26; at 30, ll. 1-26; & at 31, ll. 1-22. The paramedics warmed him with IV fluids and hot packs. 6 /22/11 HT at 18, ll. 3-14. Mr. Knight's condition improved; however, his improved condition related as much to the treatment of hypothermia as for any intoxication. 6/22/11 HT at 31, ll. 3-6.

Admittedly, this overlap in symptoms and recovery cannot account for the alcohol smell or Mr. Knight's statements. However, the medical providers failed to conduct a blood alcohol test, so the amount or type of substance in Mr. Knight's system is unknown. 6/22/11 HT at 74, ll. 21-26; at 75, ll. 1-9. Neither the responding officer nor the paramedics found any alcohol on or near Mr. Knight. 6/22/11 HT at 29, ll. 3-4; 6/28/11 at 18, ll. 9-16. Moreover, Mr. Knight's statements from this time in question are doubtful because a person's statements are not reliable while suffering from hypothermia and a brain hemorrhage. 6/22/11 HT at 38, ll. 1-10; & at 109, ll. 20-26. Mr. Knight has no memory of being found or treated by paramedics. 6/20/11 HT at 52, ll. 1-9.

E. While at the Emergency Room the On Call Doctor Discovered Mr. Knight had a Brain Injury, Mr. Knight was then Transferred to a Larger Hospital

After the paramedics transported Mr. Knight to the nearest available hospital, the treating emergency room physician, Dr. Blake Chamberlain, examined Mr. Knight. Dr. Chamberlain agreed with most of the paramedics assessments. He found Mr. Knight was likely mildly hypothermic at the time he arrived. 6/22/11 HT at 104, ll. 12-18. He also believed that Mr. Knight had been drinking. Although he did not record so in his notes, during his deposition two years later, he allegedly remembered Mr. Knight smelling of alcohol. 6/22/11 HT at 108, ll. 8-26; & at 109, ll. 1-4. As part of his examination, Dr. Chamberlain ordered CT scans of Mr. Knight and discovered that Mr. Knight had suffered a brain injury. 6/22/11 HT at 79, ll. 10-22. Being so, Mr. Knight was transferred to Methodist Hospital because it was better equipped to handle his needs. 6/22/11 HT at 80, ll. 21-26; & at 81, ll. 1.

While at Methodist Hospital, CT angiogram studies were conducted to determine the type of brain injury suffered. 6/22/11 HT at 81, 11. 7-26; & at 82, 11. 1-7. The CT results showed a subdural hematoma,

meaning that head trauma, rather than an aneurysm, caused the injury. 6/22/11 HT at 82, 11. 4-8.

.

Although no one disputes the necessity of the angiogram studies; in Mr. Knight's case, the studies caused a spasm in his brain that led to a stroke and a worsening of his cognitive impairments, a known, but uncommon result of angiograms. Deposition of Dr. Anita Shaffer, M.D. from June 10, 2011 (Shaffer Dep.) at 12, ll. 22-25; at 13, ll. 1-18; at 15, ll. 15-24; & at 16, ll. 1-2.

F. Mr. Knight was Injured by a Blunt Force Trauma to the Head between 1:00pm and 5:30pm on December 2, 2008; No One Knows Exactly When or How the Injury Occurred

The medical evidence shows that Mr. Knight's injury was from a blunt force trauma to the head. It is further agreed that the injury must have occurred between 1:00pm and 5:30pm. 6/28/11 HT at 23, ll. 24-26; at 24, ll. 23-26; & at 25, ll. 1-5. However, none of the medical providers can say what circumstances led to the injury. Mr. Knight's primary physician, Dr. Shaffer, testified, "I understand [the mechanism of Mr. Knight's injury] to be unknown." Shaffer Dep. at 11, ll. 10-23. The emergency room physician, Dr. Chamberlain, testified "I can't say when his injury happened." 6/22/11 HT at 119, ll. 19-22. Dr. Chamberlain also agreed that he did not know where the trauma came from and that he did not know at all exactly what happened to Mr. Knight. 6/22/11 HT at 101,

11. 2-5; & at 110, ll. 22-24. Finally, the paramedic also agreed that he did not have any firsthand knowledge as to what happened to Mr. Knight.
6/22/11 HT at 28, ll. 24-26; & at 29, ll. 1-2.

Mr. Knight's statements regarding the circumstances are also unhelpful because not only are statements from brain injury victims unreliable, it is common that people who suffer from memory loss "confabulate" or fill in blanks with guesses. Shaffer Dep. at 30, ll. 19-25; & at 31, ll. 1-8. Additionally, no witnesses came forward. There were many people about 200 yards from Mr. Knight when he was found, but as the paramedic explained, a lot of people stayed on the beach because they were homeless at the time. 6/22/11 HT at 40, ll. 18-26; & at 41, ll. 1-4. The men on the dune buggies were not found.¹

Although he could not say how the injury was caused, Dr. Chamberlain stated that the injuries were consistent with Mr. Knight hitting his head fairly hard on sand. 6/22/11 HT at 85, ll. 4-9. However, Dr. Chamberlain agreed it would be difficult to establish any time line of events because when brain trauma effects an individual's ability to function is "[h]ard to predict . . . [i]t could be immediate with some patients. And it could be delayed . . . just depending on how fast the

¹ The Department has speculated that Mr. Knight may have ridden a dune buggy during this time frame, but the Department agrees that for purposes of summary judgment the court should assume that Mr. Knight did not fall from a dune buggy. CP at 37.

bleeding happened, or the increase in pressure, or the increase in swelling of the brain[.]" 6/22/11 HT at 91, ll. 12-21.

Being that no one can determine when or how Mr. Knight was injured, theories as to what happened between 1:00pm and 5:30pm have evolved on both sides. The Department argues that pausing to watch the dune buggies equated to abandonment and nothing shows that Mr. Knight reentered employment at the time of injury. CP at 27-28; & at 37-38. Alternatively, because witnesses smelled alcohol on Mr. Knight and because he stated he drank, the Department theorizes that Mr. Knight must have been intoxicated and fell onto the sand, which caused the injury. CP at 27; & at 32-37.

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