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

Young, 200 Wash. at 145. Young was denied compensation for his 

lunchtime injury sustained on the jobsite from falling down a hole because 

he finished eating and left his work area but acquainted himself with another 

section of the project in order to increase his knowledge and seek a pay raise. 

Id. at 141-42, 146. This took him outside the course of employment because 

he was not required to expose himself to possible dangers and the 

information he sought was for his own benefit and did not contribute to the 

work he was engaged to perform. Id at 146-47. 

Ball-Foster also cited to the Florida case, N & L. Auto Parts Co. v. 

Doman, 111 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 1959). Ball-Foster, 163 Wn.2d at 150. This 

case sheds light on when a personal amusement venture ends and reasonable 

personal ministrations resume. There, a traveling salesman left his motel in 

the outskirts of Savannah, Florida to see a picture show downtown, catching 

a taxi. N & L. Auto Parts, 111 So. 2d at 271. The worker had two beers that 
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evening, though it was unclear whether this was before leaving for the show, 

or after the show but before catching the taxi back to the motel. N & L. 

Auto Parts, 111 So. 2d at 271. In any event, the worker was not intoxicated. 

Id After arriving at the motel grounds and while walking toward his room, 

the worker's ankle turned and he fell and broke his leg. Id The court would 

not have found coverage while the worker was on the picture show 

excursion, but found the injury compensable because this "private mission" 

had concluded by the time he was injured: 

[C]laimant deviated from the course of his employment when 
he elected to drive into Savannah to see a picture show. Had 
he been irifured while on this private mission, either in going 
into Savannah, or returning to the motor court, such injury 
would not have been compensable. Claimant 's deviation, 
however, had been completed and came to an end when he 
debarked from the taxi on his return to the motor court. It 
was while walking across the lawn, a place where he had a 
right to be, subsequent to the deviation, and while properly in 
the course of his employment that the accident occurred 
which resulted in claimant's injury. 

Id at 272 (emphasis added). This case reveals that, until concluded, even 

relatively short recreational trips take traveling employees outside the course 

of employment. Certainly, travel to a beach 25-30 miles away from one's 

hotel is outside the course of employment. 
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B. Except Where It Is Connected With One's Job, Drinking To 
Intoxication Is Not A Normal Creature Comfort Or 
Reasonably Comprehended Necessity 

On a day off, traveling employees remain within the course of 

employment if they tend to "nonnal creature comforts" or "reasonably 

comprehended necessities." Ball-Foster, 163 Wn.2d at 143. These 

activities benefit the employer by having a rested and healthy employee. Id. 

at 152. On the other hand, an employee's pursuit of "strictly personal 

amusement ventures" is not acting in the course of employment. Id. at 143. 

Because "the traveling employee must face the perils of the street in order to 

satisfY basic needs, including sleeping, eating, and seeking fresh air and 

exercise," attending to personal comfort falls outside the course of 

employment "only if the method chosen is 'unusual or unreasonable. '" Id. at 

151 (citing 2 Arthur Larson & Lex K. Larson, Larson's Workers ' 

Compensation Law § 21-08 (2006)). This Court should rule that 

intoxication as a matter of law is not fairly attributable to the increased 

risks of travel. It is "unusual" and "unreasonable" to drink to the point of 

intoxication and expect to remain covered for purposes of industrial 

Insurance. 

Cases dealing with persons who are working while intoxicated 

generally analyze whether the claimant was too intoxicated to have 

continued perfonning his or her job duties, thus evidencing abandonment. 
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See, e.g., In re: Austin Prentice, Dec'd, BIlA Dec., 50,892, 1979 WL 

180289 (1979); In re: Michael K. Pate, Dec'd, BIlA Dec., 97 1977, 1999 

WL 568539 (1999). Appearing to be in a "drunken or wanton state," as . 
opposed to appearing sober and nomlal, evidences abandonment. In re: 

Brian Kozeni, Dec'd, BIlA Dec., 63,062,1983 WL 470521 (1983). But if 

an employer encourages, finances, or creates an atmosphere that allows 

employees to become intoxicated, then an employee's intoxication may 

not remove him or her from the course of employment. See Flavorland 

Indus., Inc. v. Schumacker, 32 Wn. App. 428, 430, 435-35, 647 P.2d 1062 

(1982) (considering anticipation by employer that worker would consume 

alcohol, given that worker's job as sales manager included socializing 

over alcohol). This case law does not apply here as the inquiry is whether 

the activity of alcohol consumption had its origin in a travel related risk. 

There is nothing travel or work-related about drinking to the point 

of intoxication on a day off. "The injury must have its origin in a travel 

related risk." Ball-Foster, 163 Wn.2d at 144. While it may be reasonable 

for a traveling employee to consume a drink or two, especially with a meal, 

drinking to the point of intoxication is not a "travel related risk"; it is purely 

a personal amusement venture. 

C. The Burden Of Proof Is On Knight to Show That He Was 
"Pursuing Normal Creature Comforts And Reasonably 
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Comprehended Necessities" And Not A "Strictly Personal 
Amusement Venture" 

Knight argues that once he proved he was a traveling employee at 

the time of his injury, "the Department must then prove, by a 

preponderance of the evidence, that at the time of injury Mr. Knight 

abandoned the course of his employment by departure on a personal 

errand." App. Br. 22. He cites to Ball-Foster in support of his burden-

shifting argument. App. Br. 22-23. As support he says that the Ball-

Foster Court "reviewed the employer's assertions . . .. In short, the Court 

examined whether the employer established that the employee distinctly 

departed from his employment at the time of injury." App. Br. 23 

(emphasis in original). 

Knight ignores the context of Ball-Foster: it was an employer 

appeal. See Ball-Foster, 163 Wn.2d at 139-40. Of course, the Court 

reviewed the employer's assertions. In doing so, the Court did not, 

contrary to Knight's claim, introduce a burden-shifting principle into 

industrial insurance cases. If the Court intended to replace the 

requirement that claimants prove the right to receive benefits with a 

requirement only to prove one is a traveling employee, thereby triggering 

burden-shifting, then the Court would have so stated. Contrary to 

Knight's arguments, the Ball-Foster Court did not create a legal 
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presumption that a traveling employee was in the course of employment. 

He cites to the Ball-Foster Court's statement that "[a] traveling employee 

is generally considered to be in the course of employment continuously 

during the entire trip, except during distinct departure on a personal 

errand." App. Br. 24; Ball-Foster, 163 Wn.2d at 143 (citing Larson's 

Workers' Compensation Law § 25.01).4 There is nothing in this sentence 

that introduces a new burden-shifting principle to the course of 

employment inquiries. By stating that traveling employees are generally 

continuously covered, the Court merely recognized that, in general, 

persons on business trips tend to engage in reasonable and necessary 

activities such as walking and eating near one's hotel. This is verified by 

the Court's recognition that the traveling employee doctrine is an 

exception to the general rule that injury is not compensable when it occurs 

off the employer's premises when the worker is not engaging in work 

activities. See Ball-Foster, 163 Wn.2d at 145. Moreover, the Court 

expressly articulated the inquiry to use: "whether the employee was 

pursuing normal creature comforts and reasonably comprehended 

necessitates or strictly personal amusement ventures." Id. at 143. Nothing 

about this creates a presumption for coverage for traveling employees or 

places the prima facie burden on the Department. 

4 It should be noted that the Court said "generally" considered to be within the 
course of employment, not "always" considered as Knight apparently urges. 
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Knight argues that placing the burden on him to show that he was 

pursuing normal creature comforts and reasonably comprehended 

necessities and not a strictly personal venture "would force Mr. Knight to 

continually reassert that he had not left his employment status in order to 

seek coverage under the Act for any kind of injury over his multiple 

month assignment." See App. Br. 23. He asserts that this would negate 

the intent of the traveling employee doctrine where a traveling employee 

is generally considered to be in the course of employment continuously 

during the entire trip. App. Br. 23-24. He ignores that as a claimant 

seeking industrial insurance benefits he must prove that he was acting in 

the course of his employment at the time of his injury. RCW 51.32.010. 

He necessarily must show he has not deviated from this. Whether it is for 

a traveling employee or an employee at a fixed job site, the claimant must 

always show he or she was acting within the course of employment during 

the time period the claimant was injured. The Supreme Court recognized 

this by emphasizing that "[a] traveling employee may depart on a personal 

errand just like any other type of employee, thus losing the right to 

compensation benefits during such departures." Ball-Foster, 163 Wn.2d 

at 143. 

Claimants appealing any order of the Department in an industrial 

insurance case, except for one alleging willful misrepresentation, bear the 
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burden of proving entitlement to benefits. See RCW 51.52.050(2)(a). "In 

any appeal before the board, the appellant shall have the burden of 

proceeding with the evidence to establish a prima facie case for the relief 

sought in such appeal." RCW 51.52.050(2)(a); see also WAC 263-12-

115(2). The legislature specifically exempts only willful misrepresentation 

from this requirement. RCW 51.52.050(2)(c). To express one thing in a 

law implies the exclusion of the other. In re Det. of Williams, 147 Wn.2d 

476,491, 55 P.3d 597 (2002); State v. Sommerville, 111 Wn.2d 524, 535, 

760 P.2d 932 (1988) (under principle of expressio unius est exclusio 

alterius, the specific inclusion of certain conditions excludes the 

implication of others). By expressing that willful misrepresentation is the 

exception to the rule that an appealing party carries the burden of proof, 

the legislature meant to exclude the application of the burden of proof to 

the Department in any other workers' compensation appeal at the Board, 

including a case involving a traveling employee. 

It is well-established that claimants are held to strict proof of their 

right to receive compensation. "[P]ersons who claim rights [under the 

Industrial Insurance Act] should be held to strict proof of their right to 

receive benefits provided by the act." Cyr v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 

47 Wn.2d 92,97,286 P.2d 1038 (1955); see also Lightle, 68 Wn.2d at 510; 
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Superior Asphalt & Concrete Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 19 Wn. 

App. 800, 804, 578 P.2d 59 (1978). 

The strict standard of proof that an industrial insurance claimant 

must in all cases meet, in order to establish the right to receive benefits, is 

not diminished by the rule that the Industrial Insurance Act is liberally 

construed to effect its remedial purpose. Ehman v. Dep't of Labor & 

Indus., 33 Wn.2d 584, 595, 206 P.2d 787 (1949); Jenkins v. Dep't of Labor 

& Indus., 85 Wn. App. 7, 14, 931 P.2d 907 (1996). 

To prove entitlement to benefits, a claimant must show that an 

exclusionary basis does not apply. See Superior Asphalt & Concrete Co., 

19 Wn. App. at 804 (burden was on survivor to show that decedent was 

not on frolic at time of death); Mercer v. Dep't v. Labor & Indus., 

74 Wn.2d 96, 442 P.2d 1000 (1968) (when a worker commits suicide, 

the survivor must produce competent medical evidence that shows that 

decedent acted under an uncontrollable impulse or delirium). In the 

analogous crime victims context, the Stafford Court noted the absence of 

express statutory direction as to whether the Department must prove 

limitations on coverage or whether the claimant must prove their absence 

and held: "Strict proof of one's right to CVC benefits demands a showing 

that the victim of a criminal act comes within the statute's terms and is not 

excluded by its limitations." Stafford v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 33 Wn. 
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App. 231, 236, 653 P.2d 1350 (1982). The court analogized to industrial 

insurance cases. Id. at 236-37 (citations omitted). 

That Knight had the burden of proof at superior court is made 

explicit by RCW 51.52.115, which provides that the Board's decision is 

prima facie correct and the burden of proof is on the party challenging the 

decision. Ruse, 138 Wn.2d at 5. The Board found that Knight drank a lot 

of alcohol, became intoxicated, and as result collapsed on the beach, and 

his head struck the sand and he sustained an injury. BR 2. The Board 

further found he departed from the course of employment and that 

consuming a large amount of alcohol and/or riding an A TV are not fairly 

attributable risks of travel and are not reasonably necessary activities to 

maintain one's health while traveling for work. BR 2. Knight has not 

assigned error to these findings and they are verities. See Shirley, 

288 P.3d at 394. In any event, it is Knight's burden to prove these 

findings incorrect and he did not present a genuine issue of material fact to 

show these findings were incorrect. Knight does not know what 

happened. BR Knight 54,81. 

In summary, Knight's argument that Ball-Foster somehow places 

the burden on the Department to prove he was not pursuing normal 

creature comforts and reasonably comprehended necessities and to prove 

he was on a strictly personal amusement venture is incorrect. To place 
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this burden on the Department would require reversal of longstanding law 

that requires claimants to prove their entitlement to receive benefits. Ball-

Foster did no such thing: the Court did not alter law on burdens or 

standards of proof. 

D. Knight Was Not Engaged In A Travel Or Employment-Related 
Risk At Time Of His Injury 

To receive benefits, Knight must show that he was acting in the 

course of employment. See RCW 51.32.010; RCW 51.52.050, .115; Cyr, 

47 Wn.2d at 97; Ball-Foster, 163 Wn.2d at 140. The undisputed facts of 

this case compel the legal conclusion that Knight was not within the course 

of employment at time of his injury. As a matter of law, drinking to 

intoxication is not a risk oftravel fairly attributable to Knight's employment. 

While traveling employees may reasonably tend to their health and comfort 

in or near their hotel, traveling nearly an hour away to the beach and 

proceeding to get drunk is not reasonably necessary for personal comfort and 

well-being. Knight argues that "Mr. Knight's employment occasioned the 

use of the beach, and the risks of the beach - such as tripping and falling into 

sand, or being mugged by transients living on the beach following the 

hurricane - become part of the risks of his employment." App. Br. 28. Even 

accepting that walking on a beach 25 miles from his hotel is somehow a 
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"risk of employment" or a "risk of travel," drinking to the point of 

intoxication is not. 

All competent medical evidence (i.e., that which rises to the level of 

probability), establishes that Knight was intoxicated at the time of his fall 

onto the sand. According to the people (i.e., paramedic, police officer, 

emergency physician) who observed him soonest after his injury, Knight 

was intoxicated. See BR Wunstel 18,22,29-30,42; BR Garcia 12-13; 

BR Chamberlain 71, 89-90, 100. Indeed, Knight's breath filled an aid car 

with the strong smell of alcohol. BR Garcia 12. The emergency room 

nurse and physician perceived that Knight had a strong smell of alcohol. 

BR Chamberlain 71, 109, 113-14. Knight had slurred speech that 

improved with time. BR Chamberlain 90, 111. He admitted to drinking 

"a lot" of alcohol. BR Wunstel 23 ; BR Chamberlain 74. The emergency 

room doctor's diagnoses included intoxication.s BR 79, 89-90, 111. No 

witness or evidence denied Knight's intoxication.6 

5 Knight argued below that Dr. Chamberlain 's diagnosis of alcohol intoxication 
in the absence of blood testing was inadmissible. CP 47-51. This argument is waived for 
several reasons. First, Knight failed to assert it in his opening brief.

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